FAO LIBRARY AN: 448921

REPORT

Cracow, Poland 23-26 August 1988

Sixteenth FAO Regional Conference for Europe



Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations



REPORT OF THE SIXTEENTH FAO REGIONAL CONFERENCE FOR EUROPE

Cracow, Poland, 23 - 26 August 1988

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Pages
SUMMARY OF MAIN RECOMMENDATIONS		v - vii
		<u>Paragraphs</u>
INTRO	DUCTORY ITEMS	
	Organization of the Conference	1 - 3
	Inaugural Ceremony	4 - 5
	Election of the Chairman, Vice-Chairmen and Rapporteur	6 - 8
	Statement by the Chairman	9
	Adoption of the Agenda	10
	Statement by the Director-General	11 - 19
	Statement by the Executive Secretary of the UN Economic Commission for Europe	20 - 23
SUMMA	RY OF PROCEEDINGS	
	Country Statements and General Debate on the Food and Agriculture Situation in Europe	24 - 35
	FAO Programme in the Region: FAO Activities in Europe and Programme of Work 1988-89	36 - 51
	Integration of Environmental Aspects in Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries Policies in the Region	52 - 64
OTHER	MATTERS	
	Representation of the Region on the Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR)	65 - 67
	Round Table Meeting of Journalists	68
	Place and Date of the Seventeenth FAO Regional Conference for Europe	69 - 71
	Adoption of the Report	72
	Closure of the Conference	73 - 76
APPEN	DICES	
A. B.	Agenda List of Participants	

- C. List of Documents
- D.
- Statement by the Director-General
 Statement by the Executive Secretary of the UN Economic Commission for Europe Ε.

SUMMARY OF MAIN RECOMMENDATIONS

FAO Programme in the Region

For the attention of Governments

The Conference:

1. <u>agreed</u> that the declaration on the policy implications of the FAO/ECE study "European Timber Trends and Prospects to the Year 2000 and Beyond" was valuable in drawing the attention of policy-makers and the public to key issues in the forestry and forest industry sectors, and invited Member Governments to take it into account in their policies (para. 48).

For the attention of FAO

The Conference:

- 2. <u>suggested</u> that ESCORENA continue keeping itself under constant review in order to allow for its own evolution, and to monitor advances in technology and changes in world economic realities (para. 37).
- 3. recommended concentration of activities on selected priority areas of European agriculture, forestry and fisheries, and stressed the need for cooperation with the UN/ECE and other international organizations (para. 38).
- 4. <u>agreed</u> with the suggestion made by the Swiss Delegation that regional programmes be included in the general review of the Organization (para. 39).
- 5. <u>suggested</u> that networks be evaluated on the basis of the criteria set out by the European Research Networks Advisory Committee (ERNAC) and those networks no longer necessary be phased out in order to allow for new activities within ESCORENA and CNRE (para. 40).
- 6. welcomed the initiative of the FAO Regional Office for Europe to transform the project on Development of Integrated Farm Energy Systems into a fully self-sustaining activity (para. 43).
- 7. supported fully the socio-economic programmes in the Region and proposed the establishment of a network in this field (para. 44).
- 8. $\frac{\text{recommended}}{(\text{para. 45})}$ continuation of the Foot-and-Mouth Disease Control Programme
- 9. expressed satisfaction with the forestry activities in the Region and underlined the need for strengthening these activities (para. 47).

Integration of Environmental Aspects in Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries Policies in the Region

For the attention of Governments

The Conference:

- 10. recommended a reorientation of policies in order to reflect environmental considerations and noted a shift toward the greater integration of environmental and agricultural policies in recent years (para. 54).
- 11. recommended close cooperation and the sharing of policy experience in the field of environment and agriculture, forestry and fisheries (para. 56).
- 12. <u>stressed</u> that biotechnology could have a great potential for the development of agriculture (para. 62).
- 13. <u>adopted</u> unanimously a Declaration on agriculture, environment and cooperation among European countries (para. 64).

For the attention of FAO

The Conference:

- 14. <u>suggested</u> that FAO could play a particularly important role in improving cooperation on environmental problems since it provides a meeting place for all interested countries (para. 56).
- 15. expressed the wish that higher priority be given to environmental matters in FAO. This should be reflected in more comprehensive methods and increased inter-disciplinary action (para. 58).
- 16. <u>suggested</u> that environmental issues be included on the agenda of the next Regional Conference (para. 63).
- 17. <u>adopted</u> unanimously a Declaration on agriculture, environment and cooperation and concluded that FAO activities in the Region should, as far as possible, be further strengthened and broadened along the lines set out in the Declaration (para. 64).

Representation of the Region on the Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR)

For the attention of Governments

The Conference:

18. $\frac{\text{extended}}{\text{CGIAR until 1990 (para. 67)}}$.

Place and Date of the Seventeenth FAO Regional Conference for Europe

For the attention of FAO

The Conference:

19. requested the Director-General to determine the date of the Seventeenth Regional Conference for Europe after consultation with the Government of Italy and other Member Governments of the Region (para. 71).



INTRODUCTORY ITEMS

Organization of the Conference

- 1. The Sixteenth FAO Regional Conference for Europe, organized in cooperation with the UN Economic Commission for Europe (ECE), was held in Cracow, Poland, from 23 to 26 August 1988, at the kind invitation of the Government of Poland.
- 2. Delegations from twenty-eight Member Nations of the European Region participated in the Conference. Two Member Nations from other regions and four Member States of the United Nations nct members of FAO participated in an observer capacity. The Conference was also attended by representatives of the United Nations system and observers of intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations.
- 3. The list of participants is given in Appendix B to this Report.

Inaugural Ceremony

- 4. In welcoming the Deputy Prime Minister of Poland, Jozef Koziol, to the official inauguration of the Sixteenth FAO Regional Conference for Europe, the Director-General of FAO, Mr. Edouard Saouma, also welcomed delegates and observers. He thanked the Government of Poland for having invited the Conference to Cracow and expressed his gratitude for its generous hospitality. He underscored that this Regional Conference was the first to be held in Poland.
- In his inaugural speech, the Deputy Prime Minister of Poland welcomed the delegations and observers to his country and gave a brief account of the major programme on economic reform and of the agricultural situation in Poland. He commended FAO's activities for combating hunger, malnutrition and poverty in the world and expressed his country's support to and satisfaction with its efforts in the European region to improve cooperation. He stressed the importance of the coincidence of this Conference with a new way of thinking present throughout Europe which would lead to a peaceful world and greater possibilities for cooperation. He invited the UN system, and in particular FAO, to take advantage of this rew atmosphere in promoting cooperation among European countries. He drew attention to the environmental problems since industry alone was not to be blamed for pollution, but also agriculture. In concluding, the Deputy Prime Minister expressed hope in the development of new creative ideas as an outcome of this Conference.

Election of the Chairman, Vice-Chairmen and Rapporteur

6. The Conference elected unanimously Mr. Stanislaw Zieba, Minister of Agriculture, Forestry and Food Economy of Poland, as Chairman.

7. The Conference also elected unanimously the following Vice-Chairmen:

Mr. Hüsnü DOGAN Minister of Agriculture, Forestry and Rural

Affairs, Turkey

Mr. Reino URONEN Secretary of State, Ministry of Agriculture

amd Forestry, Finland

Mr. Michel PAPAGEORGIOU Director-Coordinator for Economic Affairs,

Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Greece

Mr. Antoine SAINTRAINT Permanent Representative of Belgium to FAO

8. Following a recommendation by the Fifteenth FAO Regional Conference for Europe to appoint either a Rapporteur or a drafting committee for the preparation of the report, Mr. H. Popp (Switzerland) was elected Rapporteur.

Statement by the Chairman

9. In his statement, the Chairman of the Conference, Mr. Stanislaw Zieba, said that Poland was privileged to host the Sixteenth FAO Regional Conference for Europe and welcomed the delegations and observers to the beautiful and historic city of Cracow.

Adoption of the Agenda

10. The Conference adopted the Agenda which is given in Appendix A to this Report.

Statement by the Director-General

- 11. In his statement, the Director-General drew attention to the new situation of political detente in Europe which had far-reaching consequences and to the favourable climate for cooperation. He stressed FAO's role as a forum for European agriculture, forestry and fisheries.
- 12. He stated that the evolution of European agriculture, particularly the spectacular increase in its productivity, represented both a risk and an opportunity for policy makers. Considerable surpluses in many countries in Europe were the result of the striking success of agricultural policies in the past in increasing production and productivity.
- 13. He considered that gains in productivity should provide an opportunity to promote more rational utilization of agricultural resources. He also made reference to the merits and the importance of the family farms in the countries of Europe.
- 14. The Director-General presented a new FAO study, "European Agriculture: Policy Issues and Options to 2000" which was submitted as an information document, to stimulate discussion and to assist the countries in considering the viability of their policy options.

- 15. The Director-General paid tribute to Mrs. Brundtland, Prime Minister of Norway, whose far-sightedness and courage were a driving force behind the report, "Our Common Future", prepared by the World Commission on Environment and Development. He referred to the joint communiqué by Mrs. Brundtland and the UN Secretary-General, Mr. Pérez de Cuéllar, which highlighted the close connection between deterioration of the environment, poverty and the development crisis, and stated that growth and alleviation of poverty were prerequisites for the preservation of the environment and sustainable development.
- 16. The Director-General referred to the review of FAO which was underway as a result of Conference Resolution 6/87. He highlighted the steps already taken by the Programme and Finance Committees and explained the motives that had led him to propose the extended scope of the review.
- 17. He stressed the Organization's serious cash flow crisis which already jeopardized its activities and noted that if it continued it would threaten FAO's very existence, and appealed to all Member Nations to pay their outstanding contributions.
- 18. He underlined that the basic role of FAO action in Europe was to promote the exchange of information and recent technology between North and South, East and West. The FAO European programme should be judged mainly for its quality; he regretted that budgetary difficulties were limiting initiatives and made it difficult to respond to requests from many European countries. He hoped that the generosity and concrete solidarity of Europe with less privileged countries would continue to play an important role in the struggle against poverty.
- 19. The complete text of the Director-General's statement is given in Appendix D to this Report.

Statement by the Executive Secretary of the UN Economic Commission for Europe (ECE)

- 20. Mr. G. Hinteregger, the Executive Secretary, underlined the close cooperation between FAO and the ECE in Europe, evident over the past years. He confirmed his organization's determination to continue to work closely together with FAO in the interest of Member Nations. He referred to the economic integration processes in various groupings of countries in the ECE region; the most recent agreement between the European Economic Community (EEC) and the Council for Mutual Economic Assistance (CMEA) would give new impetus to economic relations between East and West. He underlined ECE's role in promoting cooperation since it was the only permanent forum for economic cooperation in which all countries of Europe and North America were represented.
- 21. The Executive Secretary informed the Conference of the activities of the ECE within the context of the existing committees and working groups, most of which were joint activities with FAO. Despite differing experiences and economic approaches to the agricultural and forestry sectors, Member Nations had derived particular advantages from this cooperation on mechanization, standardization, energy conservation and environmental protection. Since food demand in the ECE region was nearly satisfied, in quantitative terms, promotion of quality aspects had become a major policy in the Member Nations,

necessitating harmonization of national quality standards. In the area of forestry, he referred to the latest FAO/ECE Study on "European Timber Trends and Prospects to the Year 2000 and Beyond". The Joint Session of the Timber Committee and the European Forestry Commission held in October 1987, had examined the study and had approved a declaration on the policy implications which had been endorsed by the ECE.

- 22. Regarding environment, he referred to the Convention on Long-range Transboundary Air Pollution and three international cooperative programmes to implement it, namely, monitoring and assessment of air pollution damage to materials, to inland aquatic ecosystems and to forests. He paid tribute to the pioneering work of the FAO European Forestry Commission which provided the basis for the ECE work on effects of air pollution on forests. He considered that there existed significant scope for further fruitful cooperation between FAO and the ECE in the environment field.
- 23. The complete text of the statement by the Executive Secretary of the ECE is given in Appendix E to this Report.

SUMMARY OF PROCEEDINGS

Country Statements and General Debate on the Food and Agriculture Situation in Europe

- 24. Member Nations representatives participating in the Sixteenth FAO Regional Conference for Europe, as well as several observers, took part in the general debate. They expressed satisfaction with the preparations for the Conference and their appreciation for the generous hospitality extended by the host country.
- 25. Most delegations who spoke reported on recent developments in their national agricultural situation, including the related policy issues and plans for the future. In addition, and in some cases almost exclusively, the interventions focused on a few major themes transcending purely national considerations. These included the policy issues and options for European agriculture until the end of the century, the issues related to environment and the achievement of ecologically-sustainable agricultures, the role of FAO in the European region, as well as a range of specific points such as the question of the ongoing review of FAO activities, the financial problem of the Organization and others.
- 26. Many delegations expressed appreciation for the background policy analysis contained in the document "European Agriculture: Policy Issues and Options to 2000".1/ They considered that the study was a valuable contribution to the current debate on needed policy reform. It presented an analytically valid, pragmatic and well-balanced assessment of European agricultural trends, the major factors that influenced them, the current state of policy-making and the broad objectives of needed policy reforms. In this context, the study surveyed and evaluated the individual country experiences with different policy approaches, and how these experiences could be useful in guiding policy choices for the future.
- 27. Several delegations indicated that the study demonstrated convincingly FAO's capability to carry out policy analysis work at a high level. Some delegations thought the study could be the basis for further work, including the formulation of operational recommendations, while others felt that it should be given wider distribution after some revision.
- 28. There was general recognition that progress towards policy reform was aimed principally at reducing or eliminating the prevailing and projected structural imbalances and associated market distorsions in some key commodity sectors. The Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) ministerial declaration and the policy reforms undertaken in some countries or country groups (e.g. the EEC) were pointing in the direction of assigning market forces a more prominent role than in the past in bringing about market balance. The same could be said in a broad sense of the policy reforms undertaken or contemplated in some centrally-planned economies of the region.

- 29. Notwithstanding the fact that the general thrust of efforts at policy reform was towards achieving more efficient use of resources in agriculture and the economy as a whole, it was widely recognized that agriculture performed a number of other functions, in addition to producing agricultural products, which could not be evaluated exclusively on the basis of the values given by the market to its output. Factors customarily taken into account included farm incomes, food self-sufficiency, environmental aspects of farming, preservation of rural social structures, and regional development. The relative weight of each of these factors differed widely among countries, reflecting differences in resource endowments, ecology, political considerations, cultural traditions, as well as purely conventional economic factors such as the level of development and the relative size of the sector in the economy and in the balance of payments.
- 30. Given the many functions attributed to agriculture, experience had demonstrated that purely conventional economic arguments for policy reform influenced policy-making only up to a certain point. For example, countries with unfavourable agricultural resource endowments but with strong non-agricultural economies were often prepared to balance the purely economic efficiency losses inherent in support policies with the gains in terms of their broader policy objectives. At the same time, in recognition of the interests of the agricultural exporting countries, a number of countries stated that they would moderate or modify their farm support policies so as to avoid the generation of surpluses which would have to be exported with heavy subsidies, or to prevent their self-sufficiency from increasing above certain levels.
- 31. A number of other important points were made in the different interventions and the major ones are summarized below:
- (a) Politically, Europe and the world as a whole had made some steps towards what might develop into a period of detente and relaxation of political tensions. This could be a propitious period for strengthening economic and technical cooperation and FAO could play an active role in promoting it, e.g. through closer cooperation with the CMEA since, notwithstanding differences in the political systems, there were significant similarities in many agricultural problems facing both the market and centrally-planned economies;
- (b) many countries offered to share with others, including the developing countries, their experiences in the development and application of agricultural technologies. They advocated strengthening the existing systems of research cooperation both within Europe, as well as on a world-wide basis, e.g. through closer cooperation efforts with the Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR). FAO should also play a greater role in promoting cooperation and diffusion of knowledge in the area of biotechnology;
- (c) the role and responsibility of Europe in adopting policies that contributed to the economic and, in particular, the agricultural development of the developing countries was stressed. This was an important supplementary criterion to evaluate attempts at policy reform in European agriculture. Policies that would help developing countries increase their agricultural export earnings, as well as stimulate their economic growth, could indirectly benefit European agriculture by stimulating export demand for temperate zone foodstuffs;

- (d) the Multilateral Trade Negotiations under the Uruguay Round of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) offered a unique opportunity for making progress towards improving the agricultural trading environment. Every effort should be made to conclude the negotiations successfully and at an early date. FAO was playing an important role in this process by providing technical support to GATT and other interested parties. At the same time, the sacrifices of the farming sector resulting from too abrupt a move towards trade liberalization should be fully recognized, as should the need for necessary gradualism. It was also recognized that in many European countries protection of agriculture would continue to be essential if the sector were to meet the many demands placed upon it by society, particularly those of a non-strictly economic nature;
- (e) part-time farming was becoming a widespread phenomenon in many countries and the issues raised by it had to be faced in policy-making alongside the more traditional issues of full-time farming. Similarly, the special conditions and non-economic aspects of the family farms deserved full attention;
- (f) the search for alternative non-food uses of agricultural products would continue to be a current issue, regardless of the fact that at the moment the economics of some of those uses, particularly regarding the production of energy, were unfavourable.
- A great number of delegations made reference, and some devoted the major part of their interventions, to the issue of environment and the question of ecological sustainability of the agricultural development patterns that had emerged or that could still emerge in the region. The need to safeguard the environment and promote environmentally-benign agricultural policies was recognized by all, but with some significant differences. Countries in the lower-income range, heavily dependent on agriculture and with less intensive agricultural technologies, considered that they still had considerable scope for further prudent intensification. At the other extreme, countries which were operating at highly intensive production technologies and did not really need further increases in output, e.g. some Scandinavian countries, were leading the way in shifting to more environmentally-benign practices. Naturally, the hardest situations were encountered in regions which faced both problems, i.e. those which depended predominantly on agriculture for their incomes and, at the same time, their agricultural resource base could not sustain further intensification. These could be the case in very prosperous or very poor regions. These and other related issues were further discussed extensively under the specific Agenda Item 8 (see paragraphs 52 to 64 below). It was also noted that the policy on environmental aspects should be seen through a more global dimension.
- 33. Many delegations referred to the existing and planned FAO activities in the European region. Their interventions and the discussions under the separate specific Agenda Item 7 were summarized in the paragraphs 36 to 51 below. Within this context, it was worth highlighting the references made to the need for closer cooperation between FAO and the ECE with a view to enhancing coordination and avoiding duplication of work, particularly in the area of statistics and meetings.

- Additional points raised during the general debate included the reference by a number of delegates to the review process in FAO initiated under Conference Resolution 6/87. They voiced their agreement with what the Director-General had declared within this context in his opening statement and expressed satisfaction with the steps taken by the Programme and Finance Committees, including the selection of experts as well as the cooperation of the Director-General and the Secretariat. They welcomed his decision to extend the scope of the review through incorporation of the field programmes and administrative, financial and personnel matters. Some expressed the wish to receive a progress report on this matter to be discussed at the Ninetyfourth Session of the Council in November 1988. Finally, they reiterated their views concerning the setting of future priorities and other measures aimed at strengthening the capacity of the Organization to meet future challenges. Many delegates also shared the concern of the Director-General with regard to the grave financial crisis of the Organization and emphasized that the root causes of these financial difficulties should be removed as soon as possible. In this connection, a number of countries referred with satisfaction to the exceptional contribution of Italy.
- 35. The Observer from the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics (USSR), speaking also on behalf of the observers from Byelorussian Soviet Socialist Republic and Ukrainian Soviet Socialist Republic, underlined the importance of environmental problems and fully supported the Declaration presented by Poland. He looked forward to future development of a fruitful collaboration between the Soviet Union and FAO.

Report on FAO Activities in the Region 1986-87 including (a) Action taken on the Main Recommendations of the Fifteenth Regional Conference and (b) Programme of Work 1988-89 in the Region

- 36. The Conference expressed appreciation for the activities carried out during the 1986-87 biennium and for the FAO 1988-89 programme of work in Europe, as presented in the document, 1/ and observed with satisfaction considerable improvement in the presentation of this document in response to its recommendation made by the Fifteenth FAO Regional Conference for Europe (Istanbul, Turkey, 28 April-2 May 1986).
- 37. The Conference considered the evaluation of the European System of Cooperative Research Networks in Agriculture (ESCORENA), carried out by the European Commission on Agriculture (ECA) in 1987 and the recommendations for its adjustment and reorientation found general support and approval. Several delegates commended the achievements of ESCORENA and suggested that the system continue, keeping itself under constant review in order to allow for its own evolution, as well as for advances in technology and changes in world economic realities.
- 38. The Conference recommended a concentration of the activities on selected priority areas of European agriculture, forestry and fisheries. It stressed the need for cooperation with the ECE and other international organizations, in order to avoid duplication and overlapping. In this connection, cooperative research networks (both ESCORENA and the Cooperative Networks on Rural Energy (CNRE)), socio-economic activities (i.e. pluriactivity, women and the agricultural family in rural development, development of small industries, agro-tourism and macro-economic studies) were generally identified as priority areas.

- 39. The Conference \underline{agreed} with Switzerland's suggestion that the regional programmes should be included in the review of the Organization.
- 40. The Conference suggested that there was a need to evaluate the networks in accordance with the criteria to be set up by the recently established European Research Networks Advisory Committee (ERNAC). Those which were no longer necessary would be phased out in order to allow for new activities within ESCORENA and CNRE.
- 41. Several delegations suggested the following subjects for inclusion in the network system: biotechnology, non-food agriculture, low input agriculture, protection of environment, problems of young farmers, remote sensing in agriculture.
- 42. The delegate of Turkey conveyed his Government's offer to host an international conference on the socio-economic, ethical and political aspects of biotechnology.
- 43. The Cooperative Networks on Rural Energy and the FAO/UNDP project on Development of Integrated Farm Energy Systems (RER/80/001) were also generally supported. Several delegations reported on the positive results obtained from the project and welcomed the initiative of FAO's Regional Office for Europe in transforming this programme into a fully self-sustaining activity.
- 44. The socio-economic programmes of the region obtained the full support of the Conference. In this connection, several delegations proposed the establishment of a socio-economic network including the activities of the Working Party on Women and the Agricultural Family in Rural Development, management, extension and agro-tourism. Agricultural policy and macro-economic studies and related matters could also be included in such a network. The Conference appreciated the development of small industries in rural areas through a specific UNDP/FAO regional project.
- 45. Appreciation was expressed for the success of the Foot-and-Mouth Disease Control Programme, and the Conference <u>recommended</u> its continuation. Greece suggested holding periodic regional seminars on FMD in order to improve the readiness of the Mediterranean countries.
- 46. The establishment of an animal genetic resource data bank was noted with satisfaction by some delegations.
- 47. Many delegations referred to the prime importance of promoting concerted actions for the protection of European forest resources from acid rain and fires. They expressed satisfaction with the forestry activities in the region and <u>underlined</u> the need for strengthening them. The Delegation of France expressed its willingness to organize the next World Forestry Congress in France, in collaboration with FAO.
- 48. The Conference welcomed the declaration on the policy implications of the FAO/ECE study, "European Timber Trends and Prospects to the Year 2000 and Beyond", which had been adopted at the joint session of the European Forestry Commission and the ECE Timber Committee in October 1987. Agreeing that the declaration was valuable in drawing the attention of policy-makers and the public to key issues in the forestry and forest industry sectors, the Conference invited Member Governments to take it into account in formulating their policies.

- 49. Some delegations commended the development of marine and inland fisheries activities. The delegate of Czechoslovakia informed the Conference of his Government's invitation to the Director-General of FAO to hold the Sixteenth Session of the European Inland Fisheries Advisory Commission in 1990 in Czechoslovakia.
- 50. The technological programmes relating to land and water development, remote sensing, plant production and protection were generally supported, including the joint FAO/ECE and FAO/IAEA activities. One delegation proposed that food irradiation activities be deleted from the regional programme.
- 51. Some delegations also asked for more information on the financial impact of the activities in the region. The absence of detailed costing was noted by one delegation, which considered that without this information, it was not possible to make a full assessment of priorities. However, it was pointed out that the Secretariat had given this information during the debate.

Integration of Environmental Aspects in Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries Policies in the Region

- 52. The Conference unanimously expressed satisfaction with the timely inclusion of "Integration of Environmental Aspects in Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries Policies in the Region" in the agenda, and nearly all delegations and some observers spoke of its utmost importance. The document for this item provided a comprehensive and constructive basis for this discussion.
- 53. The intensification of agricultural production on the one hand, and urban and industrial development on the other presented a threat to the environment. There had been growing concern with environmental degradation in almost every country in the European Region since the early 1970s. A number of delegations provided additional information on the environmental problems of their countries and also on national policies for the protection of the environment.
- 54. Most countries in the Region had recently introduced policies to protect the environment and had increased pollution penalties. There was now a widely shared opinion that it was useful to reduce the negative and encourage the positive effects on the environment of agricultural, forestry and fishery production. In this connection, the Conference recommended a reorientation of policies in order to reflect these environmental considerations and noted a shift toward the greater integration of environmental and agricultural policies in recent years.
- 55. The Conference agreed, in general, with the analysis contained in the document on the environmental consequences of agricultural, forestry and fishery development and the consequences of urban and industrial development for agriculture, forestry and fisheries. It concurred with the conclusion that there were four major environmental problems: pollution of water and soil resources, pollution of air, loss of genetic resources and land degradation.

- 56. In view of the regional or international dimensions of environmental problems, the Conference recommended close cooperation and sharing of policy experiences regarding environment and agriculture, forestry and fisheries. All competent international, governmental and non-governmental organizations should take part in this cooperation. In this connection, the delegation of Poland proposed the creation of a "European Council of Environmental Protection", composed of the environmental ministers from all European countries. The Conference suggested that FAO could play a particularly important role in this respect since it provided a meeting place for all interested countries.
- 57. Some delegations stressed the important role of education, extension services and volunteer programmes directed at improving the environment and fostering an environmental ethic, both in the farm community and throughout the general public. The preservation of small villages was important in maintaining the traditional landscape. Some delegations suggested that due consideration be given, in agricultural development plans, to the importance of rural communities and family farms. In this context, women would play a significant and important role.
- The Conference noted with satisfaction several FAO initiatives listed in the document. Several delegations expressed the wish that a higher priority be given to environmental matters in FAO. It should be reflected in more comprehensive planning and a restructuring of working methods towards increased inter-disciplinary action. Some delegations referred to the European System of Cooperative Research Networks in Agriculture (ESCORENA) and the Cooperative Networks on Rural Energy (CNRE) in the formulation of guidelines for environmental protection in their specific field of competence. The Nordic delegations proposed the establishment of an FAO/ECE working party on environmental matters.
- 59. Reference was repeatedly made to forest damage due to air pollution and to concerted actions required for reducing pollution. In this connection, the work of the <u>ad hoc</u> Working Group on the Impact of Air Pollution on Forests of the FAO European Forestry Commission was appreciated. This working group elaborated a manual on the assessment and monitoring of forest damage on a methodological basis. It was reported that levels of emissions of pollutants, including SO₂ and NO₃ and hydrocarbons were being reduced considerably in the Federal Republic of Germany and in Switzerland.
- 60. Some delegations mentioned the negative influence of the emission of motor vehicles on agriculture and forestry, especially in those countries where there was high transit traffic. They also pointed to the very positive effects produced by the introduction of catalytic converters.
- 61. Some delegations emphasized the need to proceed with caution in introducing environmental measures which could raise agricultural as well as administrative costs.
- 62. The great potential of biotechnology in the development of agriculture was stressed. One delegation expressed the wish that FAO might help to establish a code of conduct with regard to this matter.

- 63. It was also <u>suggested</u> that environmental issues should be included on the agenda for the next conference, with a special emphasis on market-oriented policy measures, combined with an analysis of integrating environmental aspects with other policy instruments.
- 64. The Conference unanimously <u>adopted</u> the following declaration introduced by the Polish delegation:

DECLARATION

The Sixteenth FAO Regional Conference for Europe, in cooperation with the United Nations Economic Commission for Europe, from 23 to 26 August 1988 in Cracow:

Conscious of the fact that agriculture is concerned not only with food production but is also a way of life for millions of farmers and their families, as well as the basis of agro-industry, rural development and the preservation of natural resources,

<u>Aware</u> of the fact that European agriculture is presently undergoing important changes as a result of the economic growth, scientific progress and social development of the countryside,

Gravely concerned that the level of pollution, which knows no political frontiers when endangering human life, is borne by European people as a whole,

Bearing in mind that food and the natural environment are indispensable for human welfare and therefore of utmost importance in any discussions on European economic and social cooperation,

Convinced that inter-European cooperation is a key element to enhance the Region's ability to assist other Regions to solve nutritional and socio-economic problems relevant to their development,

Warmly welcomes the present positive trend in international relations and considers that the Sixteenth FAO Regional Conference for Europe, with its emphasis on European agricultural development and environmental problems, could contribute to further progress in European cooperation in agriculture, forestry and fisheries. With this in view, the following actions are considered most important:

AGRICULTURE

- (a) Agricultural production levels should be adjusted, having in mind the needs of countries and regions;
- (b) Greater attention should be paid to national and international markets when making decisions on agricultural production and trade;
- (c) The socio-economic status of the farmer should be ensured and living conditions in rural areas be improved to keep pace with those of other social and professional groups;
- (d) Nutritional and health standards should be strictly observed in food production and processing.

ENVIRONMENT

- (a) Further integration of environmental policies with those concerning socio-economic development, on a national and international level, where feasible;
- (b) Concerted action by all European countries in the scientific, technological, organizational and legal aspects of environment protection; in this context close cooperation between FAO and the UN Economic Commission for Europe seems desirable, considering the latter's potential and experience in the field of environment;
- (c) Adequate educational policies to ensure a healthy respect of the environment.

COOPERATION

- (a) The creation of more favourable conditions for economic cooperation through the improvement of the general trade conditions in the field of agriculture;
- (b) The broadening of the scope of European scientific and technical cooperation, taking into account the positive experience in this field already achieved by international organizations, especially FAO; cooperation should cover all basic areas of agriculture and food processing, as well as environmental protection, and should point the way towards technological changes, bearing in mind natural resources and the cultural values of agriculture;
- (c) The improvement and expansion of cooperation between FAO and ECE as well as between EEC, EFTA and CMEA;
- (d) The development of direct contacts between the various agricultural groups in the Region, such as national and international organizations of farmers, cooperatives, young farmers clubs, as well as the social and cultural organizations aimed at diffusing concepts of cooperation, protection of cultural values, traditions and the exchange of experiences on rural development programmes.

Concludes that

- FAO activities in the Region should as far as possible be further strengthened and broadened along the lines set out above;
- such action would benefit Europe as well as developing countries in other Regions;
- FAO should maintain its role as a catalyst for agricultural cooperation in the Region;
- due account should be given to the important role of Europe within the ongoing review process of FAO.

OTHER MATTERS

Representation of the Region on the Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR)

- 65. Israel presented its candidature for the four-year period 1989-92. Portugal requested an extension of two years of its present term of office until 1990.
- 66. In the discussion that followed, it was stated that Finland, Iceland, Norway, Portugal, Sweden and Switzerland would support Israel's candidature if presented again, for the CGIAR in 1990, for the period 1991-94, whereas all other Member countries of the EEC and Cyprus promised to consider such a candidature very favourably. After these assurances, Israel withdrew its candidature.
- 67. Portugal would therefore continue representing the Region along with Poland on the CGIAR until the end of 1990.

Round Table Meeting of Journalists

68. During the Sixteenth FAO Regional Conference for Europe, a "round table meeting" of journalists was held for the first time as an accompanying event. Journalists accredited to the Conference participated in the meeting. In the opinion of the participants, such meetings should be permanently included in the programme of events accompanying FAO Conferences for Europe.

Place and Date of the Seventeenth FAO Regional Conference for Europe

- 69. The Head of the Delegation of Italy officially invited the Seventeenth FAO Regional Conference for Europe to be held in her country in 1990, in the city of Venice.
- 70. The Minister for Agriculture and Food of Czechoslovakia, the Minister of Agriculture of Israel, as well as the delegate of Cyprus extended an invitation to hold the Eighteenth FAO Regional Conference for Europe in their respective countries in 1992. The Conference thanked the delegations for their generous offers.
- 71. The Director-General was requested to determine the date of the Seventeenth FAO Regional Conference for Europe after consultation with the Government of Italy and other Member Governments of the Region.

Adoption of the Report

72. With some amendments, the text of the draft report was approved by the Conference.

Closure of the Conference

- 73. On behalf of the Director-General, Mr. M. Trkulja, Special Assistant, thanked the Government of Poland for the excellent organization of the Conference in Cracow, and for the generous hospitality extended. Mr. Trkulja expressed FAO's gratitude for the fruitful debates and also his appreciation for the high level of representation at the Conference and recalled that the European countries had always given their full support to the Organization. He paid tribute to the Chairman, H.E. Stanislaw Zieba (Poland), the Vice-Chairmen and the Rapporteur whose presence and experience had made the Conference a notable success.
- 74. On behalf of the participants, the delegates of Greece and Belgium thanked the Government of Poland for the excellent organization and hospitality offered during the Conference as well as for the highly interesting study tour, and expressed appreciation for the quality of the debates. They also thanked the Director-General of FAO and the Conference Secretariat for the efforts made in preparing the documents and for the smooth and efficient management of the meeting.
- 75. In his closing statement, H.E. Stanislaw Zieba, Chairman of the Conference, reiterated his warm thanks to the Director-General of FAO, to the Executive Secretary of ECE and to the FAO Regional Representative for Europe for their sustained efforts in strengthening cooperation among all European countries. He said that it had been an honour and a pleasure for Poland to host the Sixteenth FAO Regional Conference for Europe which provided a unique forum for meetings of high level decision-makers in agriculture and an enhanced dialogue between East and West. He noted that the Conference had been able to discuss in-depth agricultural policy issues and options, FAO activities in Europe and the integration of environmental aspects in agricultural, forestry and fishery policies and had been able to reach constructive recommendations and conclusions. He thanked all delegates for their support in adopting the Declaration introduced by the Polish delegation.
- 76. The Chairman then thanked the Director-General, his staff, the interpreters, the organizers and all those who had helped in preparing and servicing the Conference and declared the Conference closed.



AGENDA

I. INTRODUCTORY ITEMS

- 1. Inaugural Ceremony.
- 2. Election of the Chairman, Vice-Chairmen and Rapporteur.
- 3. Adoption of the Agenda and Timetable.

II. STATEMENTS

- 4. Statement by the Director-General.
- 5. Statement by the Executive Secretary of ECE.
- 6. Country Statements and General Debate.
- 7. Report on FAO Activities in the Region 1986-87 including (a) Action taken on the Main Recommendations of the 15th Regional Conference and (b) Programme of Work 1988-89 in the Region.

III. SELECTED ISSUES OF AGRICULTURE AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT

8. Integration of Environmental Aspects in Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries Policies in the Region.

The document reviews national strategies and policies on environmental protection and rational use of natural resources, with particular emphasis on issues and options stemming from the growing awareness of the interdependence between environment and economic activities. Special attention is paid to the problems related to the protection of European forests from air pollution and fire as recommended by the 15th Regional Conference for Europe. The impact of industrialization and urbanization on agriculture, forestry and fisheries is also analyzed. The need for further development of appropriate agricultural, fisheries and forestry technologies and practices based on rational use of national resources and protection of the environment is emphasized.

The role of FAO in supporting national action and in enhancing international cooperation in the field of rational use of natural resources and protection of the environment is highlighted.

9. Representation of the Region on the Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research.

IV. CONCLUDING ITEMS

- 10. Any other business.
- 11. Place and Date of the 17th Regional Conference for Europe.
- 12. Adoption of the Report.
- 13. Closure of the Conference.

LIST OF DELEGATES AND OBSERVERS LISTE DES DELEGUES ET OBSERVATEURS LISTA DE DELEGADOS Y OBSERVADORES

Chairman

Président

Stanislaw ZIEBA (Poland)

Presidente

Vice-Chairmen

Antoine SAINTRAINT (Belgique)

Reino URONEN (Finland)

Vice-Présidents Vicepresidentes

Michel PAPAGEORGIOU (Greece)

Hüsnü DOGAN (Turkey)

Rapporteur

Hans POPP (Suisse)

MEMBER NATIONS IN THE REGION ETATS MEMBRES DE LA REGION ESTADOS MIEMBROS DE LA REGION

ALBANIA - ALBANIE

Délégué

Bilbil JAUPI

Vice-Ministre de l'agriculture

:

:

:

Tirana

Suppléants

Viron TANE

Chargé d'affaires

Ambassade de la République populaire

socialiste d'Albanie

Varsovie

Ernst STRASSER

and Forestry

Hermann REDL

Federal Ministry of Agriculture

Federal Ministry of Agriculture

and Forestry

Vienna

Alternates

Vienna

Director

Fadil LLUBANI

Directeur, Centre albanien de

recherches forestières Ministère de l'agriculture

Tirana

Ernst ZIMMERL

Permanent Representative of Austria

to FAO Rome

Sali METANI

Ministère de l'agriculture

Tirana

BELGIUM - BELGIQUE - BELGICA

Délégué

Antoine SAINTRAINT

Ambassadeur

Représentant permanent de Belgique auprès de la FAO

Rome

AUSTRIA - AUTRICHE

Delegate

Josef RIEGLER

Federal Minister of Agriculture

and Forestry

Vienna

BULGARIA - BULGARIE

Délégué

Dimitar STANEV
Président adjoint
Association nationale agroindustrielle
Sofia

Suppléants

Etien NINOV Chef de section Ministère des affaires étrangères Sofia

Yuli MINCHEV Conseiller Représentant permanent adjoint de Bulgarie auprès de la FAO Rome

Boris KOVACHEV Expert Ministère de l'agriculture et des forêts Sofia

Svetoslav JIVKOV Expert Ministère des affaires étrangères Sofia

CYPRUS - CHYPRE - CHIPRE

Fotis G. POULIDES

Delegate

A. GAVRIELIDES
Minister of Agriculture and
Natural Resources
Nicosia

Alternates

Ambassador Permanent Representative of Cyprus to FAO Rome

George CAMELARIS
Agricultural Officer
Department of Agriculture
Ministry of Agriculture and
Natural Resources
Nicosia

Haris ZANNETIS
Agricultural Officer
Ministry of Agriculture and
Natural Resources
Nicosia

CZECHOSLOVAKIA - TCHECOSLOVAQUIE - CHECOSLOVAQUIA

Delegate

Miroslav TOMAN Minister of Agriculture and Food Prague

Alternates

Svatopluk CHALUPA
Deputy Minister of Agriculture and
Food
Ministry of Agriculture and Food
Prague

Svatopluk STAMPACH Advisor to the Minister of Agriculture and Food Ministry of Agriculture and Food Prague

A. SZABO
Director of International Department
Ministry of Agriculture and Food
Prague

DENMARK - DANEMARK - DINAMARCA

Delegate

Hans Jørgen KRISTENSEN Chairman of the Danish National FAO Committee Ministry of Agriculture Copenhagen

Alternate

Jørgen Skovgaard NIELSEN Head of Division Ministry of Agriculture Copenhagen

FINLAND - FINLANDE - FINLANDIA

Delegate

Reino URONEN
Secretary of State
Ministry of Agriculture and
Forestry
Helsinki

Alternates

Hannu HALINEN
Permanent Representative of Finland
to FAO
Rome

Hans BRENNER Chief Inspector Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry Helsinki

Leo GRANBERG
Senior Adviser
Bureau for International Affairs
Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry
Helsinki

FRANCE - FRANCIA

Délégué

Jean-Luc GRAEVE Conseiller des affaires étrangères Représentant permanent adjoint de France auprès de l'OAA Rome

Suppléant

Bernard CHEVALIER
Sous-Directeur de la forêt
Ministère de l'agriculture et
de la forêt
Paris

GERMANY, FEDERAL REPUBLIC OF ALLEMAGNE, REPUBLIQUE FEDERALE D' ALEMANIA, REPUBLICA FEDERAL DE

Delegate

Georg GALLUS
Parliamentary State Secretary
Federal Ministry of Food,
Agriculture and Forestry
Bonn

Alternates

Bernd VON SYDOW
Deputy Head of Division
International Agricultural
Organizations
Federal Ministry of Food,
Agriculture and Forestry
Bonn

Rudolf ELSNER
Head of Division
Coordination of Environmental
Matters in the Agricultural Sector
Federal Ministry of Food,
Agriculture and Forestry
Bonn

Alois BAIER
First Counsellor
Alternate Permanent Representative
of the Federal Republic of Germany
to FAO
Rome

Michael BANZHAF Second Secretary Embassy of the Federal Republic of Germany Warsaw

GREECE - GRECE - GRECIA

Delegate

Michel PAPAGEORGIOU Director-Coordinator for Economic Affairs Ministry of Foreign Affairs Athens

Alternates

Dimitri FRANTJESKAKIS
Permanent Representative of
Greece to FAO
Rome

Dimitrios DADIOTIS Consultant Ministry of Foreign Affairs Athens

Mrs. V. LADOUKAKI-ZACHARIOUDAKI Head, Department of International Relations Ministry of Agriculture Athens

Mrs. E. ADAMOPOULOS Attaché Embassy of Greece Warsaw

HUNGARY - HONGRIE - HUNGRIA

Delegate
Iván MUNKA
Secretary-General
Hungarian National FAO Committee
Ministry of Agriculture
Budapest

Alternates
András SZABO
First Secretary
Ministry of Foreign Affairs
Budapest

Zoltán KALMAN Assistant to Permanent Representative of Hungary to FAO Hungarian Embassy Rome

ICELAND - ISLANDE - ISLANDIA

Delegate

Jon HELGASON Minister of Agriculture Reykjavik

Alternate

Sveinbjoern DAGFINNSSON Secretary-General Ministry of Agriculture Reykjavik

IRELAND - IRLANDE - IRLANDA

Delegate

Donal CREEDON
Secretary
Department of Agriculture and Food
Dublin

Alternates

Patrick Oliver RYAN
Deputy Permanent Representative
of Ireland to FAO
Rome

Mrs. Agnes GANNON Council for Development in Agriculture Dublin

ISRAEL

Delegate

Arieh NEHAMKIN Minister of Agriculture Jerusalem

Alternates

Itzhak MINERBI Ambassador, Assistant Director-General Ministry for Foreign Affairs Jerusalem Ilan HARTUV Minister Counsellor Permanent Representative of Israel to FAO Rome

Mordechai PALTZUR Head of Israel Interest Office Warsaw

Naftali YANIV Senior Counsellor to the Minister Ministry of Agriculture Jerusalem

Avraham SHINAR
Director, Technical Assistance
and Foreign Relations Bureau
Ministry of Agriculture
Jerusalem

ITALY - ITALIE - ITALIA

Délégué

Mme Tina ANSELMI Membre du Parlement Rome

Suppléants
Gian Luigi VALENZA
Ambassadeur
Représentant permanent de l'Italie
auprès de la FAO
Rome

Giovanni MAZZEO
Sous-directeur général
Protection économique des
produits agricoles
Ministère de l'agriculture
Rome

Emilio MANNI Direction générale Economie des monts et forêts Ministère de l'agriculture et des forêts Rome

Raimondo SANTACROCE Fonctionnaire du Ministère de l'environnement Rome

LUXEMBOURG - LUXEMBURGO

MALTA - MALTE

Delegate
Lawrence GATT
Minister of Productive
Development
Valletta

Alternates

Anthony SCICLUNA-SPITERI Director of Agriculture and Fisheries Valletta

Francis SERRACINO-INGLOTT Professional Officer Ministry of Productive Development Valletta

NETHERLANDS - PAYS-BAS - PAISES BAJOS

Delegate

Frederik Ch. PRILLEVITZ Minister Plenipotentiary Permanent Representative of The Netherlands to FAO and WFP Rome

Alternate

F.H. De HAAN
Policy Advisor
Ministry of Agriculture and
Fisheries
The Hague

NORWAY - NORVEGE - NORUEGA

Delegate

Terje RISHOLM State Secretary Ministry of Agriculture Oslo

Alternates

Leif FORSELL Head of Division Ministry of Agriculture Oslo

Nils Ragnar KAMSVAG Alternate Permanent Representative of Norway to FAO Rome

POLAND - POLOGNE - POLONIA

Delegate
Stanislaw ZIEBA
Minister of Agriculture, Forestry
and Food Economy
Warsaw

Alternates

Waldemar MICHNA
Minister of the Protection of the
Environment and Natural Resources
Warsaw

Jozef WIEJACZ Ambassador Permanent Representative of Poland to FAO Rome

Henryk KUROWSKI Director-General Ministry of National Education Warsaw

Ryszard MAZUR Director Department of Research and Development Warsaw

Antoni RUTKOWSKI Secretary Department of Agricultural Forestry Sciences Polish Academy of Sciences Warsaw

Jerzy WASIO
Director
Department for International
Cooperation
Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry
and Food Economy
Warsaw

Czeslaw MUSZALSKI Advisor to the Minister of Foreign Affairs Ministry of Foreign Affairs Warsaw

Mrs. Malgorzata PIOTROWSKA Secretary Polish National FAO Committee Warsaw

PORTUGAL

Delegate
Arlindo CUNHA
Vice-Minister
Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries
and Food

Lisbon

Alternates

José Eduardo MENDES FERRAO Chairman Portuguese National FAO Committee Lisbon

Oscar SALES PETINGA
Director
Department of Planning
Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries
and Food
Lisbon

José V.J. CARVALHO-CARDOSO National Agronomic Institute Oeiras

Jorge COIMBRA MARTINS
Alternate Permanente Representative
of Portugal to FAO
Rome

ROMANIA - ROUMANIE - RUMANIA

Delegate
Mircea CORAS
Director
Ministry of Agriculture
Bucharest

Alternate
Cristian HERA
Director-General
Research Institute for Cereals
and Industrial Crops
Bucharest

SPAIN - ESPAGNE - ESPAÑA

Delegado
Angel BARBERO MARTIN
Representante permanente de
España ante la FAO
Roma

Suplentes

Cosme MORILLO FERNANDEZ
Subdirector General de Recursos
Naturales Renovables
Instituto Nacional para la
Conservación de la Naturaleza
Madrid

Javier GARCIA RAMOS
Jefe del Servicio de Relaciones
Exteriores
Instituto Nacional de
Investigaciones Agrarias
Ministerio de Agricultura, Pesca
y Alimentación
Madrid

Francisco ZAMARRIEGO CRESPO
Director de Programa de Relaciones
Bilaterales y Multilaterales
Ministerio de Agricultura, Pesca
y Alimentación
Madrid

Alberto GARCIA PALACIOS Consejero Comercial Embajada de España Varsavia

SWEDEN - SUEDE - SUECIA

Delegate

Michael SOHLMAN Under-Secretary of State Ministry of Agriculture Stockholm

Alternates

Ingvar LINDSTRÖM
Director-General
Chairman of the Swedish FAO Committee
National Agricultural Market Board
Joenkoeping

Tommie SJOEBERG Head of Section Secretary-General of the Swedish FAO Committee Ministry of Agriculture Stockholm

Mrs. Astrid BERGQUIST Agricultural Counsellor Permanent Representative of Sweden to FAO Rome

SWITZERLAND - SUISSE - SUIZA

Délégué
Hans POPP
Directeur suppléant de l'Office
fédéral de l'agriculture
Département fédéral de l'économie
publique
Berne

Suppléants
Rudolf de POURTALES
Ministre
Représentant permanent adjoint
de Suisse auprès de la FAO
Rome

Igor MARINCEK
Secrétaire du Comité national
suisse de la FAO
Office fédéral de l'agriculture
Département fédéral de l'économie
publique
Berne

TURKEY - TURQUIE - TURQUIA

Delegate
Hüsnü DOGAN
Minister of Agriculture, Forestry
and Rural Affairs
Ankara

Alternates
Nazmi DEMIR
Deputy Under-Secretary
Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry
and Rural Affairs
Ankara

Hasim OGUT
Director, Projects and
Implementation Department
Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry
and Rural Affairs
Ankara

Mrs. Gaye GURPINAR
Director, Department for International Relations, Research,
Planning and Coordination Council
Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry
and Rural Affairs
Ankara

Levent BILMAN Second Secretary Turkish Embassy Warsaw

Cemil CAKAREL Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Rural Affairs Ankara

UNITED KINGDOM - ROYAUME-UNI - REINO UNIDO

Delegate
Mrs. Patricia WEST
Principal Officer
External Relations Division
Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries
and Food
London

Alternate
James Dean AITKEN
Head FAO Section
Overseas Development Administration
Foreign and Commonwealth Office
London

YUGOSLAVIA - YOUGOSLAVIE

Delegate
Sava VUJKOV
President of the Federal Committee
for Agriculture
Belgrade

Alternates
Mrs. Ljiljana VELASEVIC
Advisor for Multilateral Cooperation
Federal Committee for Agriculture
Belgrade

Mrs. Simonida STOSIC Interpreter Federal Committee for Agriculture Belgrade

OBSERVERS FROM MEMBER NATIONS NOT IN THE REGION OBSERVATEURS D'ETATS MEMBRES N'APPARTENANT PAS A LA REGION OBSERVADORES DE ESTADOS MIEMBROS QUE NO PERTENECEN A LA REGION

AUSTRALIA - AUSTRALIE

Michael RYAN Alternate Permanent Representative of Australia to FAO Rome

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA - ETATS-UNIS D'AMERIQUE - ESTADOS UNIDOS DE AMERICA

Thomas KELLY Chief of International Relations Ministry of Agriculture Washington D.C.

Harold NORTON Agricultural Attaché American Embassy Warsaw

OBSERVERS FROM MEMBER STATES OF UNITED NATIONS OBSERVATEURS D'ETATS MEMBRES DES NATIONS UNIES OBSERVADORES DE ESTADOS MIEMBROS DE LAS NACIONES UNIDAS

BYELORUSSIAN SOVIET SOCIALIST REPUBLIC - REPUBLIQUE SOCIALISTE SOVIETIQUE DE BIELORUSSIE - REPUBLICA D'UKRAINE - REPUBLICA SOCIALISTA SOCIALISTA SOVIETICA DE BIELORRUSIA

Alexander M. STAROVOJTOV Deputy Vice-Minister of Agriculture State Committee of Agriculture Minsk

GERMAN DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC -REPUBLIQUE DEMOCRATIQUE ALLEMANDE -REPUBLICA DEMOCRATICA ALEMANA

Rolf STEINERT Vice-Minister for Agriculture, Forest and Food Berlin

Harald HILDEBRAND Scientific Collaborator Ministry of Agriculture, Forest and Food Berlin

UKRAINIAN SOVIET SOCIALIST REPUBLIC -REPUBLIQUE SOCIALISTE SOVIETIQUE SOVIETICA DE UCRANIA

Leontij SINEWISH Head of the Bureau State Committee of Agriculture Kiev

UNION OF SOVIET SOCIALIST REPUBLICS -UNION DES REPUBLIQUES SOCIALISTES SOVIETIQUES - UNION DE REPUBLICAS SOCIALISTAS SOVIETICAS

Igor M. KARPENKO Chief of Department Institute for Agricultural Economy Moscow

P. MARKOW Head of Section Ministry for Foreign Affairs Moscow

Mrs. Nina ALEXANDROVA Third Secretary Ministry for Foreign Affairs Moscow

HOLY SEE - SAINT-SIEGE SANTA SEDE

The Most Rev. Agostino FERRARI-TONIOLO Permanent Observer to FAO Vatican City

REPRESENTATIVES OF THE UNITED NATIONS AND SPECIALIZED AGENCIES REPRESENTANTS DES NATIONS UNIES ET DES INSTITUTIONS SPECIALIZED REPRESENTANTES DE LAS NACIONES UNIDAS Y ORGANISMOS ESPECIALIZADOS

UNITED NATIONS ECONOMIC COMMISSION
FOR EUROPE (ECE) - COMMISSION
ECONOMIQUE DES NATIONS UNIES POUR
L'EUROPE (CEE) - COMISION ECONOMICA
DE LAS NACIONES UNIDAS PARA EUROPA
(CEPE)

Gerald HINTEREGGER
Under Secretary-General
Executive Secretary of ECE
Geneva

INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY
(IAEA) - AGENCE INTERNATIONALE DE
L'ENERGIE ATOMIQUE (AIEA) - ORGANISMO
INTERNACIONAL DE ENERGIA ATOMICA
(OIEA)

Bjorn SIGURBJORNSSON Director, Joint FAO/IAEA Division of Nuclear and Biotechnology Applications in Food and Agriculture Vienna

Wiestaw BRENNECKE Administrative Assistant Vienna

EUROPEAN ECONOMIC COMMUNITY (EEC) COMMUNAUTE ECONOMIQUE EUROPEENNE (CEE) COMUNIDAD ECONOMICA EUROPEA (CEE)

Jean-Jacques RATEAU
Administrateur principal à la
Direction générale de l'agriculture
Bruxelles

Mme Antonia de CENDRA MORERA Administrateur Conseil des Ministres Bruxelles

OBSERVERS FROM INTERGOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS OBSERVATEURS DES ORGANISATIONS INTERGOUVERNEMENTALES OBSERVADORES DE LAS ORGANIZACIONES INTERGUBERNAMENTALES

INTERNATIONAL OFFICE OF EPIZOOTICS (OIE) - OFFICE INTERNATIONAL DES EPIZOOTIES (OIE) - OFICINA INTERNA-CIONAL DE EPIZOOTIAS (OIE)

J. MAZUREK
Director, Veterinary Department
Ministry of Agriculture, Forest
and Food Economy
Warsaw

INTERNATIONAL CENTRE FOR ADVANCED
MEDITERRANEAN AGRONOMIC STUDIES (ICAMAS)
- CENTRE INTERNATIONAL DES HAUTES ETUDES
AGRONOMIQUES MEDITERRANEENNES (CIHEAM) CENTRO INTERNACIONAL DE ESTUDIOS
SUPERIORES SOBRE AGRONOMIA MEDITERRANEA
(CIESAM)

Albert SIMANTOV Président Paris ORGANIZATION FOR ECONOMIC COOPERATION AND DEVELOPMENT (OECD) - ORGANISATION DE COOPERATION ET DE DEVELOPPEMENT ECONOMIQUES (OCDE) - ORGANIZACION DE COOPERACION Y DESARROLLO ECONOMICOS (OCDE)

Jeffrey RAE Chief Agricultural Policies Division Agricultural Directorate Paris

OBSERVERS FROM NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS OBSERVATEURS DES ORGANISATIONS NON GOUVERNEMENTALES OBSERVADORES DE ORGANIZACIONES NO GUBERNAMENTALES

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF WATER LAW (IAWL) - ASSOCIATION INTERNATIONALE DU DROIT DES EAUX (AIDE) - ASOCIACION INTERNACIONAL DE DERECHO DE AGUAS (AIDA)

Dante A. CAPONERA Chairman of the Executive Council Rome

Ludwig TEKLAFF Fordham University, School of Law New York

INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION OF AGRICULTU-RAL ENGINEERING (CIGR) - COMMISSION INTERNATIONALE DU GENIE RURAL (CIGR) -COMISION INTERNACIONAL DE INGENIERIA RURAL (CIIR)

Tadeusz NOWACKI
President of the Agricultural
Engineering Committee
Polish Academy of Sciences
Warsaw

INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION ON IRRIGA-TION AND DRAINAGE (ICID) - COMMISSION INTERNATIONALE DES IRRIGATIONS ET DU DRAINAGE (CIID) - COMISION INTER-NACIONAL DE RIEGO Y AVENAMIENTO (CIRA)

Waldemar MIODUSZEWSKI
Institute for Land Reclamation
and Grassland Farming
Warsaw

INTERNATIONAL CONFEDERATION OF FREE TRADE UNIONS (ICFTU) - CONFEDERATION INTERNATIONALE DES SYNDICATS LIBRES (CISL) - CONFEDERACION INTERNACIONAL DE ORGANIZACIONES SINDICALES LIBRES (CIOSL)

John VANDERVEKEN General Secretary Brussels

Kjeld AAKJAER Head International Affairs Brussels INTERNATIONAL UNION OF FAMILY
ORGANIZATIONS (IUFO) - UNION INTERNATIONALE DES ORGANISMES FAMILIAUX
(UIOF) - UNION INTERNACIONAL DE
ORGANISMOS FAMILIARES (UIOF)

André DUFFAURE
Représentant permanent de l'UIOF
auprès de la FAO
Paris

TRADE UNIONS INTERNATIONAL OF AGRICUL-TURAL, FORESTRY AND PLANTATION WORKERS (TUIAFPW) - UNION INTERNATIONALE DES SYNDICATS DES TRAVAILLEURS DE L'AGRI-CULTURE, DES FORETS ET DES PLANTATIONS (UISTAFP) - UNION INTERNACIONAL DE SINDICATOS DE TRABAJADORES DE LA AGRICULTURA, DE LOS BOSQUES Y DE LAS PLANTACIONES (UISTABP)

Kazimierz IWANIEC President Warsaw WORLD CONFEDERATION OF LABOUR (WCL) - CONFEDERATION MONDIALE DU TRAVAIL (CMT) - CONFEDERACION MUNDIAL DEL TRABAJO (CMT)

Jan KULAKOWSKI Secrétaire général Bruxelles

CONFERENCE SECRETARIAT SECRETARIAT DE LA CONFERENCE SECRETARIA DE LA CONFERENCIA

M. ZJALIC

Conference Secretary and Conference

Officer

H. OLEZ

Reports Officer

H. VON LOESCH

Press Officer

FAO STAFF - FONCTIONNAIRES DE LA FAO - FUNCIONARIOS DE LA FAO

Edouard SAOUMA

Director-General

A. BOZZINI

Regional Representative for Europe

M. TRKULJA

Special Assistant to the Director-

General

H. JASIOROWSKI

Director, AGA

T.J. PECK

Director a.i., JEUR

N. ALEXANDRATOS

Chief, ESDG



LIST OF DOCUMENTS

Provisional Agenda	
Report on FAO Activities in the Region 1986-87; Action Taken on the Main Recommendations of the 15th Regional Conference and Programme of Work 1988-89 in the Region	
Integration of Environmental Aspects in Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries Policies in the Region	
Representation of the Region on the Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR)	
Information Note	
Provisional Timetable	
Provisional List of Documents	
European Agriculture: Policy Issues and Options to 2000	
Statement by the Director-General	
Provisional List of Participants	
Draft Report of the Conference	
ERC/88/OD/Series	
Orders of the Day	



STATEMENT BY Mr. Edouard SAOUMA, DIRECTOR-GENERAL

Mr. Chairman, Your Excellencies, Ladies and Gentlemen,

This is, as I recalled just now, the first time the Regional Conference for Europe has been held in Poland. But the novelty of the setting for your work is not only a matter of geography: the political scene in Europe itself is now experiencing a genuine renewal, with far-reaching consequences.

Panorama of Europe: détente, dialogue and cooperation

The new situation is marked by political détente, a growing trend toward openness, and a favourable climate for cooperation and the conclusion of agreements among the various groups to which the countries of Europe belong. To cite just one example, there is the joint declaration recently signed in Brussels on cooperation between the European Community and Comecon; I need hardly stress the historic importance of this event.

Europe, from the four cardinal points, is gathered here today. Certainly, as we all know, neither the USSR nor the German Democratic Republic is a member of the Organization. These two countries are, however, closely interested in our activities, as may be seen from the presence at this Conference of high-level observers, whom I am happy to greet; the USSR has, moreover, decided to be represented in FAO by permanent observers. This great country, a signatory to the Constitution at the Quebec Conference in 1945, can of course at any moment claim its right to become a member of the Organization, and I fervently hope that it will not be long before it joins us. With the entry of the USSR and the German Democratic Republic, FAO's aspirations to universality would be fully realized. We should then see an expansion and enrichment of the dialogue among all the European partners, which is the meaning and purpose of your Regional Conference.

One of the important elements in this dialogue is cooperation between the United Nations Economic Commission for Europe and FAO. I am, therefore, particularly pleased to greet Mr. Hinteregger, Executive Secretary of that Commission; his presence among us bears witness to our joint desire to intensify this cooperation and make it still more effective, for the greater good of the European Member Nations.

In addition to the FAO Regional Conference, these nations already have a large number of bodies to discuss agricultural problems. Off the cuff, I could mention the meetings of Ministers of Agriculture of the OECD countries, those of the European Economic Community, of Comecon, of the countries of the European Free Trade Zone - and this list is probably not exhaustive.

Under the circumstances, one is tempted to wonder what is the need for the FAO Regional Conference for Europe. First of all, none of the bodies I have mentioned comprises all the European countries, and at least one - OECD - admits non-European States as well. As we have just seen, FAO includes practically every nation in Europe, and may hope to bring them all together in the near future.

In the second place, the functions of these different groups do not lie within FAO's specific vocation. The latter's role is not to organize the discussion — still less the drafting or implementation — of common agricultural policies. It has no desire to compete with any other body. But it does make available to all interested nations the unique wealth of information at its disposal and, in addition, a forum, a space for broader discussion on agriculture, forestry and fisheries. Broader, not only because of the number of its European members but also because it sets the agricultural problems of Europe in the context of the whole human community. Open to all European nations, it offers them at the same time an opening to the world.

This approach seems to me in line with some of the fundamental characteristics of Europe, of its spirit and its agriculture. It was Europe, an essentially agrarian Europe, that invented humanism. A Latin author, Terence, was the first to state that nothing human was foreign to him. Over the centuries, the monks built up the agricultural and intellectual infrastructure of medieval Europe. In the Europe of today, agriculture is still perhaps more a way of life than a purely entrepreneurial activity. The best proof of this is the current interest in preserving the family holding — even, in some large countries with planned economies, a partial return to this type of farming. At the same time, technological progress and the know-how of your peasants have given European agriculture such a dynamism and such productivity that the options selected by your countries have inevitably had resounding repercussions on the rural community and the entire population, not only in Europe but in the whole world.

European agriculture: toward 2000

This interdependence lays on Europe world-wide responsibilities, and the present Conference provides you with an ideal opportunity to give some thought to them. As a springboard for your discussions, we have taken the initiative of preparing a study which only FAO, I believe, could have undertaken and successfully completed. I am referring to the document entitled "European Agriculture: Policy Issues and Options to 2000". I did, I will admit, have a moment of hesitation before submitting it to you, since I was not absolutely certain that this study, without precedent and without equivalent, would meet your wishes. But in fact its interest lies in its very originality, which seems to me thought-provoking and calculated to stimulate discussion. This is why, although the subject as such does not appear on the agenda, the study is presented to you as an information document.

Since our first mission is to assist developing countries, often short of analytical instruments, you may wonder why we are devoting such a comprehensive study to the problems of countries so well equipped from the point of view of technology, policies and economic studies. Are we presuming to give lessons to those who have taken the lead in progress? Not at all. Our study is not born of dogmatism, and certainly makes no pretension to dictate to sovereign Governments. It is not supposed to be either a collection of medical prescriptions or a cookery book. So what did we set out to do?

It is very simple: we have tried to present figures, statements and an analysis of the possible options to stimulate discussion and help Europe to understand and assume its world dimension.

You did not need us to tell you that the situation of European agriculture called for major decisions on the part of your Governments. Individually and collectively, the countries of the region are already devoting an impressive amount of thought to these problems and the options they demand. They are almost all engaged in a process of adjusting their agricultural policies. We just want to help them to set their reflection and their action against a broader background - to extend the field. We are convinced that such assistance could be useful. The questions European Governments have to tackle are indeed unbelievably complex; the diversity of conditions and the play of interactions between economic, social and ecological interests make it extremely difficult to find balanced and harmonious solutions. Efficiency, profitability, keeping agricultural incomes on an even keel, safeguarding rural traditions and the environment: countries must face and try to reconcile in their policies so many different or even contradictory demands, that the more distant consequences of their decisions - namely, their repercussions on the rest of the world - risk being pushed into the background or even out of sight altogether.

One of the merits of the study is that it does not overlook the <u>global</u> importance of the problem. Europe and North America together produce nearly half the food in the world, and their share in world trade in agricultural products is bordering on two-thirds. Inevitably, questions such as that of structural surpluses or optimal utilization of agricultural resources exercise a decisive influence on the interests and even the existence of the developing world. Choices involving the closure of European markets to exports from developing countries, yet another sharp distortion in trade, risk perpetuating and aggravating poverty, underdevelopment and hunger for hundreds of millions of human beings.

In no way are we setting ourselves up as judge of European countries. Their concern to protect their national interests is eminently legitimate, particularly for countries with limited agricultural resources and a difficult environment. The problem of food security also arises in Europe. Let us not forget that in past centuries the main concern was whether or not European agriculture would ever be able to cope with the ever-growing number of mouths to feed. In this connection, it must be recognized that the recent considerable surpluses in many countries of Europe do not represent a failure, but, on the contrary, a striking success for agricultural policies intended to increase production and productivity. Moreover, it would be a mistake to believe that surpluses necessarily constitute a long-term problem; we have only to look at the effects of one year of drought on the soybean surpluses of the United States.

No, I repeat, it is not the purpose of this study to put Europe on trial. It is intended only to assist your countries to measure the consequences of their decisions for the entire planet, to understand fully that self-centred policies could jeopardize the well-being and stability of the rest of the world and, eventually, of the originators themselves. Bearing

in mind the extreme diversity of Europe's natural resources, ecological conditions and socio-economic and institutional features, we want to help you to see more clearly. We should like to encourage greater mutual understanding of the extraordinarily complex questions posed by the process of adjustment. We should like to assist you to ensure that your legitimate efforts to safeguard essential national interests involve only a minimum distortion of international trade.

Our research has led us to think that the evolution of European agriculture, particularly the spectacular increase in its productivity, represents for policy-makers both a risk and an opportunity. The risk is the temptation to solve the problem by implementing costly policies of import substitution or export subsidy to the detriment of the countries - mainly developing - who produce at a low cost price. The opportunity to be seized is the possibility of taking advantage of gains in productivity to promote more rational utilization of agricultural resources.

Policy adjustment, whether national or international, raises a host of complex and delicate problems. The road will be long and difficult. To reach the end, we shall have to show wisdom, pragmatism and above all mutual understanding. In submitting this study to you, our only purpose is to make available to you the instruments for measurement and observation. I firmly trust that these instruments will help you to trace out your own path and to advance along it with a minimum of difficulties.

This is the gist of the information, analysis and study document we are submitting to you and on which delegations that so wish may express their views. It is up to participants to let us know if they would like a similar subject to be on the agenda of future Regional Conferences.

Environment

One of the recurrent themes in our study is concern for the environment. Europe, very much industrialized and a major energy consumer, is pouring out into both air and water enormous quantities of smoke and industrial effluents. Hence the gravity of the environmental problem throughout the region. It bears very heavily on agriculture, forestry and fisheries, but also on the quality of life and, in the long term, on life itself. One terrifying example of this is the way pollution has ravaged seal populations, with 25 percent of them apparently perishing in a few months. In the forests, as in the seas, we can see the spread of the sinister patches that are so many signs of death. More and more people are sounding the alarm and calling for action. In this connection, I should like to pay special tribute to Mrs. Brundtland, Prime Minister of Norway, whose far-sightedness and courage were a driving force behind the report, "Our Common Future", prepared by the World Commission on Environment and Development. This text is generally known as the "Brundtland Report", and with good reason.

In the wake of this report, I should like to mention an important conference held in Oslo on 8 and 9 July 1988 at the invitation of Mrs. Brundtland. Mrs. Brundtland and the Secretary-General of the United Nations were joined by the executive heads of 22 United Nations agencies and the members of the World Commission on Environment and Development.

Discussions highlighted the close connection between deterioration of the environment, poverty and the development crisis. Stating that growth and alleviation of poverty were prerequisites for the preservation of the environment and sustainable development, participants proclaimed the need for a new planetary ethic based on equity, accountability and human solidarity, with both present and future. We must, as they pointed out in a striking phrase, escape from "the tyranny of the immediate". Convinced that protection of the environment and the struggle against poverty could become economically viable components of development plans and programmes, they launched an appeal for dialogue and concerted efforts on a world-wide scale to solve these problems. You may wish to read the joint communiqué published at the end of this meeting by Mrs. Brundtland and Mr. Pérez de Cuéllar.

Inspired by the same spirit, we have proposed the addition to the agenda of a separate item on the place allotted to ecological considerations in agricultural, forestry and fishery policies, and we have submitted to you a document dealing specifically with this question. In preparing our Programme of Work and Budget for 1990-91, I shall take due note of your discussions and the opinions expressed, in determining the priority to be given to environmental problems.

As to the environment in which FAO is working, it too, as you all know, poses some singularly thorny problems.

Review of FAO

The Conference of FAO, in its Resolution 6/87, entrusted to the Programme Committee and the Finance Committee the responsibility for undertaking a study of certain aspects of the goals and operations of the Organization, with a view to making it more effective. It authorized the Committees, working jointly, to be assisted by experts. In May the Committees, taking into account information received from all sides, examined very carefully possible approaches to organizing and conducting this study; they reached unanimous decisions on the method, the experts and various other matters. In accordance with the wishes of the Conference, the experts were chosen on the basis of their professional competence and experience, with due consideration for balanced geographical distribution. The Committees gave them precise instructions on their terms of reference. To finance the cost of this study, we deducted 2.5 million dollars from our slender budget.

The Conference had, by a majority decision, limited the field of this study in a fairly restrictive way. But, since one thing leads to another, it seemed to me desirable to extend the boundaries and to include within them everything that contributes to our activities and operations. Indeed it seemed to me obvious that the eventual solutions must take into account the inter-dependence of all these factors. The Committees welcomed this proposal, and all aspects of our work will therefore be examined. The review will include three sections: the role of FAO, particularly its strategies and priorities; operational activities; administrative, financial and personnel management.

The experts have started their work, and I have placed the Secretariat at their disposal. They arrived in July to gather information, talk to my colleagues, observe our work and contact the organizations with which we

collaborate. As you see, the work is well in hand. This is the year of the experts and next year the Committees will draw up their report, which will be submitted to the Council and will finally be placed before the Conference. For my part, as laid down in Resolution 6/87, I shall submit the conclusions and recommendations of the study, together with my views and comments, to the Council, which will transmit it, together with its comments, to the Twenty-fifth Session of the Conference.

Cash flow crisis

But this review, on which there has been so much insistence, must not be conducted on an excessively debilitated and bloodless FAO unless, like a scene from Molière, it is to turn into a sort of horrible and grotesque medical argument around a dying patient. As you are well aware, our Organization is going through a serious cash flow crisis which already jeopardize its activities and could, if it continues, threaten its very existence.

You all know the origin and the causes of this situation: it is pointless to go over them again. Let us rather consider the immediate consequences and prospects for the future.

During the present biennium, we have had to reduce the services we provide to Member Nations to the tune of 25 million dollars. In 1988 we had to make a cut of 20 million dollars, which would have been even more drastic without the additional contribution of 15 million dollars from Italy. I should like to quote this as an example, and to pay tribute here to the far-sighted and generous attitude of our host country, which will be making an exceptional contribution for the 1988-89 biennium, amounting to 30 million dollars.

Despite this shot in the arm, our programmes have been cut by 45 million dollars in two years. What does this mean in practice?

It means, first of all, a dangerous drain on our staff. The first generations of international officers have reached, or are reaching, retirement age. Others are leaving us prematurely. We are witnessing the departure, one after another, of servants of the international community whose competence, devotion and experience will be sorely missed, since lack of money prevents us from replacing them. The succession is unsure, and therefore the very future of the Organization is mortgaged. On this aspect, the anxiety I feel is little short of anguish: we are reaching a situation comparable with that of peasants reduced by famine to eating next year's seeds.

Secondly, it means that daily expenditure is monitored, sifted, and ruthlessly whittled down. I check this personally, sometimes sick at heart when I have to block the funds for action which is all too necessary. Often we find ourselves unable to exercise one of our major constitutional functions, namely providing advice to Governments requesting it, since we cannot finance the travel, or there are no staff available because of unfilled vacant posts. Similarly, we are obliged to forgo attendance at international meetings of great interest at which we have always been represented.

It means, again, that we have had to suppress, suspend or reduce an appalling number of publications and meetings: 98 publications and 53 meetings in 1986-87, 86 and 51 in 1988-89. In particular, we have had to suspend indefinitely the appearance of all FAO reviews, including CERES, Unasylva and the World Animal Review. The Organization is thus deprived of the means of making its activities known, its public image disappears, and this is another vicious circle; without a public image, how can we influence world opinion and reverse the pernicious trend of disaffection toward multilateral cooperation, which is the root of the whole problem?

Role of Member Nations

This is what we have come to. Where do we go from here? This will depend on the way in which Member Nations recognize and assume their responsibilities.

First of all, they should respect their financial commitments. I mentioned the exemplary action of our host country: other countries have paid to the last cent, and I am grateful to them. Unfortunately, however, there are among our major contributors certain countries who have not yet settled their contributions for 1988, or have only paid part, or have even accumulated substantial arrears. I entreat them to regularize their position as soon as possible in order to loosen the garotte that is strangling us, since these arrears are the prime cause of the crisis.

With one notable exception, the main European contributors have shown exemplary punctuality. Europe's share in the regular budget is verging on 50 percent; where multi-bilateral aid and trust funds are concerned, it is well in the lead. It also makes an outstanding intellectual and technological contribution to the Organization's activities. The expertise it provides is unequalled. It is no mere chance that our Headquarters are in Rome. Your region's share in the management of our House also broadly reflects its contribution: out of eight Assistant Directors-General at Headquarters, there are no less than five Europeans.

FAO is your Organization; I am sure it grieves you to see it in its present difficult situation. You, who have already done so much for it, cannot fail to share my apprehension at the dangers it runs, or to give concrete proof of your concern. We are hoping for a change of heart on the part of our largest contributor, who holds the key to the situation, to the crisis affecting all agencies in the United Nations family. The first signs of such a shift in attitude are already appearing among the congressmen of that great country, surprised to see how decisive the action of a great international organization can be, for example, in settling a terrible and murderous conflict. If, at this precise moment, the nations of Europe decide to exert their influence to this end in the course of their dialogue with that country, they could play a very positive role and help to tip the balance. Let us not forget that multilateral cooperation is a matter for sovereign States acting in concert on a basis of equality. The international community is the Member Nations - you. As for us, we are the servants and not the decision-makers in this community.

Firm action is becoming increasingly urgent since, whatever happens, the crisis will not disappear from one day to the next. In demography, as you know, a fall in the birth rate does not prevent the population from continuing to expand on its own impetus for a certain time. The same is true for the crisis we are going through: our difficulties will persist and perhaps become worse for several years more. I am in continuous contact with the Finance Committee, and I intend to submit this problem in greater detail to the next session of the Council. I wanted, however, to bring home the gravity of the situation to all our European Member Nations; I had to tell you how much I need - how much FAO needs - the constant, clear-sighted and resolute support of all Europe.

FAO's work in Europe

In this cooperative, FAO, the Organization's efforts in the service of Europe are commensurate with the action of European countries to further the Organization's work. Certainly our operations in the region are not on the same scale as those in developing countries; I would say the distinction lies in their very nature. In such an advanced, developed, industrialized region, our role is essentially to promote exchange of information and the latest technologies between East and West, North and South. It is to anticipate and encourage the trends I mentioned at the beginning of my statement. It is to bring the parties together, to help them to build up information and research networks. In short, it is above all a role of communication of establishing relations. It is performed not only through our Regional Office for Europe, but also through the several joint bodies such as the Joint FAO/Economic Commission for Europe, the FAO/International Atomic Energy Agency, and the FAO/World Health Organization. This cooperative aspect of our work in Europe seems to me highly significant.

I do not want to anticipate the report that our Regional Representative will present to you. I shall therefore restrict myself to mentioning a few fields where the action of the cooperative networks and the joint bodies I mentioned just now has proved particularly fruitful: increased European production of soybeans, standards and regulations on pesticides and animal wastes, application of nuclear technologies to animal and plant production, assessment of fish stocks in the Mediterranean, aquaculture development, fishery resource protection and management, and the ecological and social role of the forest. Other sectors where interesting results have been obtained are rural development, pluriactivity and rural employment. Lastly, certain world—wide activities have been particularly important for European countries: this is true of the work of the Joint FAO/WHO Codex Alimentarius Commission on planning and evaluation of nutritional needs, food additives, standardization and contamination. I remind you that FAO bears 80 percent of the budget for this joint programme with WHO.

There is another aspect of our regional activities that seems to me extremely promising, namely, the growing participation of national institutions in developing countries. One example of this is the concrete application of the findings of cooperative research on olive-growing in all the olive-producing countries in Europe, the Near East and North Africa.

As I often say, our European programme must not be judged by its volume; it is its quality that counts. The budgetary difficulties I have just mentioned prevent us from envisaging for the time being any expansion of our activities in Europe. I deplore this, since it stifles our initiatives and sometimes prevents us from responding as we would wish to requests made by many European countries to FAO or to the joint FAO/IAEA and FAO/Economic Commission for Europe. I am nevertheless highly encouraged by the dynamism, vitality and originality of the cooperative work conducted with European countries.

Conclusion

In following the paths of cooperation, the region is doing no more than pursuing a line of conduct of which it has always been a shining example. Europe's serious problems - particularly unemployment and inflation - have not prevented it from displaying concrete solidarity with less privileged countries and regions. In the campaign against the current invasion of desert locusts, of unprecedented gravity for North Africa and the Sahel, Europe ranks among the most generous donors, providing aeroplanes, staff, and large quantities of equipment and supplies.

How can one fail to find grounds for hope in this attitude where reason and generosity join hands? As I well know, Europe exercises over the rest of the world a sort of fascination — Europe, so old and so young, rich in experience and in constantly renewed creativity, custodian of the past and harbinger of hope. The world, which has already received so much from Europe, expects still more from it. Indeed, it still has much to give. This applies in a very special way, I am convinced, to the European agricultural summit constituted by your Regional Conference. The climate of political openness, the renewal of hopes for peace and cooperation which I mentioned earlier, will enable your debates to be conducted in a more friendly and relaxed atmosphere. It is therefore with great confidence that I extend to you my warmest good wishes for every success in your work.

Thank you.



STATEMENT BY Mr. Gerald HINTEREGGER, EXECUTIVE SECRETARY OF THE UN ECONOMIC COMMISSION FOR EUROPE

Mr. Chairman, Mr. Director-General, Ministers, distinguished delegates,

For the first time since taking up office as Executive Secretary of the United Nations Economic Commission for Europe (ECE), I have the pleasure to attend the Regional Conference for Europe and to share with you some thoughts on developments in the region and the special role which ECE plays in close cooperation with FAO in the areas of agriculture and timber.

I would like to give my congratulations to the Chairman and Vice-Chairmen and wish them every success.

I should like to express also on behalf of the ECE our sincere appreciation to the Polish Government and in particular to the Polish Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Food Economy, as well as to the authorities here in Cracow, for the excellent organization of this Conference and warm welcome extended to the participants.

The association of FAO and ECE in Europe over many years has been an especially close one, as evidenced by the jointly staffed Agriculture and Timber Division in Geneva and the activities of a number of joint bodies. I especially welcomed the opportunity to discuss at a recent meeting with Dr. Saouma the cooperation between our two organizations, on which occasion we confirmed our determination to continue to work together closely in the interest of our member countries.

Important political and economic developments are occurring in the ECE region which offer new challenges and opportunities for increased international cooperation. After the serious economic difficulties and political tensions which marked the late 1970s and the early 1980s, the countries of this region have now entered a new phase in their relations. The signing of the historic agreement on the elimination of the intermediate-range nuclear weapons in Europe at the Washington Summit and further progress at the recent Moscow Summit are witness to the improvement in relations between the United States and the Soviet Union with beneficial repercussions for the world as a whole and for East-West cooperation in particular.

Dynamic processes of change are under way at present in Europe which are likely to have an important impact also on the agriculture policies of the countries of this region. I am referring above all to the economic integration processes taking place in various groupings of countries in the ECE region.

The European Economic Community aims to establish a single "internal market" for 330 million people in 1992 which will bring about a free movement of goods, services, capital and persons.

The joint Luxembourg Declaration of Ministers of the European Economic Community and EFTA countries in 1984, which embodied the political will to let EFTA countries participate to the extent possible in the integration process of the European Economic Community was praised by the member countries of both organizations.

At the recent meeting in Prague of the Council for Mutual Economic Assistance at the level of heads of Government, far-reaching proposals were advanced which could eventually lead to the creation of a common market of 400 million people comprising the Soviet Union and the other European CMEA countries. The speed and scope of changes in intra-CMEA trade and cooperation will largely depend on the progress and effectiveness of the economic reform policies under way in the Soviet Union and some East European countries.

Active negotiations started in 1986 between the European Economic Community and CMEA, aimed at establishing relations at an official level. Even if the different mandates and systems of these two organizations may limit substantive cooperation in the near future, the recently reached agreement between them will nevertheless give new impetus to the economic relations between East and West. In any event, it opened the way for the conclusion of bilateral trade agreements between the EEC and individual CMEA countries.

In view of all these developments it is to be expected that the ECE will have to play an even more important role in the future as it is the only permanent forum for the economic cooperation comprising the whole region, that is the whole of Europe, both East and West, as well as the United States and Canada.

At this point I would like to note with satisfaction that for the first time all ECE countries not members of FAO are represented at a FAO Regional Conference for Europe.

Since the conclusion of the Final Act of Helsinki in 1975, the CSCE process has promoted dialogue on a variety of subjects - political, economic and humanitarian. The follow-up meetings to Helsinki have set the course for further and more specific activities. Negotiations at the Vienna Review Conference are at present passing through a critical phase, it is to be hoped that they can be brought to a fruitful conclusion in the next few months, providing in the "Second Basket" new proposals for activities by the ECE, which has served as the main instrument for implementing projects of economic and scientific cooperation resulting from the Helsinki process.

Let me now turn to our activities in the fields of agriculture and timber.

The ECE Committee on Agriculture Problems is one of the traditional bodies of ECE. Despite differing experiences and approaches to the agricultural sector, member countries have derived particular advantage from the exchanges of information, as well as the programmes on mechanization, standardization, energy conservation and environmental protection.

Since 1949, when the Committee was established, the agricultural sector has undergone profound changes. While hunger was still widespread in Europe immediately after the Second World War, today an increasing number of countries are struggling with the need to put a ceiling on the continuous growth of agricultural output. The strong expansion in the post-war period has occurred despite a massive emigration of agricultural labour to other sectors of the economy; and it was made possible by the parallel increase in the use of industrial inputs and capital, resulting in rapid rise in agricultural productivity.

These developments have led to serious market imbalances for some major commodities in parts of Europe, and they have given added weight to the need for continuous monitoring of the market situation for agricultural products. The regular exchange of information on recent developments in agricultural policy, as practiced by the Committee at its annual sessions, also helps to ensure a better coordination of national measures.

With demand for food in the ECE region largely satisfied in quantitative terms, the quality aspect has been moving increasingly to the foreground. Promotion of quality production has thus become a major policy goal in all ECE countries, and standards for agricultural products serve as an effective means of distinguishing levels of quality. However, diverging national standards can pose serious problems for international trade. Harmonization of standards, in particular for perishable produce where rapid frontier clearance procedures are essential, is thus one of several measures aimed at facilitating international trade.

Through the efforts of the Working Party on Standardization of Perishable Foodstuffs, there are today well over 70 UN/ECE standards, covering such commercially important products as fresh and dried fruit, vegetables, potatoes, cut flowers, eggs, and poultry meat. In addition, standards for fruit juices and quick frozen foods have been elaborated jointly with Codex Alimentarius Commission. Current efforts are concentrating on the continuous adaptation of standards to changing market requirements and on extending this work to new products, such as meat other than poultry meat.

The ECE region is the world's largest import market, in particular of fruit and vegetables. Consequently, the interest of countries outside the ECE region in these standards is evident. The Working Party has actively encouraged producing countries, in particular developing countries, to participate in its activities.

One of the factors contributing to the strong evolution of ECE agriculture has been the rapid and extensive mechanization of the sector. The FAO/ECE Working Party on Mechanization of Agriculture has assisted member countries to assess the main trends of agricultural mechanization and to find technical solutions to be applied in agricultural production.

In the field of forestry and timber, the Economic Commission for Europe, through its Timber Committee, enjoys especially close links with the European Forestry Commission of FAO.

Last October, when I addressed the fifth joint session of the Timber Committee and the European Forestry Commission, I stressed the importance which ECE attaches to the excellent cooperation that has existed for more than 40 years between our two organizations in the field of forestry.

The joint session of the Timber Committee and the European Forestry Commission devoted particular attention to the latest FAO/ECE Study "European Timber Trends and Prospects to the Year 2000 and Beyond".

Among the basic findings of the study were that growth in Europe's wood raw material supply in the coming decades should be able to keep pace with the expected expansion in the consumption of forest products. This would mean that Europe's level of dependence on external supplies of forest products need not further increase.

The study foresees a continuation to the end of the century of the keen competition between forest products suppliers, but the latest outlook for the wood supply/demand balance, the ever-increasing demand on the forest for environmental and other non-wood goods and services, the threat to forests from fire and air pollution, and the marked increase in public interest in forest policy issues in many countries have stimulated reappraisals of national policies.

The joint session in October approved a Declaration of the policy implications on the new long-term study. It identified a number of key policy areas, of which I will mention four:

- the protection of forests against damage due to fire, air pollution and other causes;
- the increasing relative importance of the non-wood benefits of the forest, such as environmental protection, grazing, hunting, nature conservation and recreation;
- the conversion of agricultural land to forestry as one of the alternatives for the use of surplus agricultural land in some countries; and
- the development of products and markets, through improved information services, research and development, promotion and marketing.

I very much hope that this Conference will endorse the Declaration, as the ECE has already done.

The countries of the ECE region have experienced some of the most dramatic and widely publicized effects of air and water pollution damage — the acidification of lakes, the pollution of rivers, the crumbling of cultural monuments, the dying of forests. Yet it is also in this region that some of the most vigorous action is now being taken to cope with the problem. A major milestone was reached in 1979, when the ECE adopted at a Ministerial Meeting the Convention on Long-Range Transboundary Air Pollution, which entered into force in 1983.

Two Protocols of the Convention were adopted in 1984 and 1985. One on the "Reduction of Sulphur Emissions or their Transboundary Fluxes by at least 30 per cent" entered into force in September 1987; the other on "Long-Term Financing of the EMEP Monitoring Programme" in January 1988. A third protocol dealing with an effective control of nitrogen oxide emissions will be signed at a Ministerial Meeting to be held in Sofia in October. While this is good news, further strenuous international efforts are needed to reduce emissions to tolerable levels, both on environmental and health grounds.

In conjunction with the implementation of the Convention, three International Cooperative Programmes have been agreed to: monitoring and assessment of air pollution damage to materials, including cultural monuments; to inland aquatic ecosystems; and to forests. A fourth, which would be concerned with damage to agricultural crops, is under active consideration.

Here I should like to pay tribute to the pioneering work of FAO's European Forestry Commission, which provided the basis for the ECE work on effects of air pollution on forests.

While this Conference is essentially concerned with European matters, they have to be considered in the context of the global environment. Here I would make two observations. The first relates to the increasing concentration of CO in the atmosphere arising from the burning of fossil fuels and depletion of forests in tropical regions. Whether the devastating drought in parts of the United States turns out to be just temporary phenomenon or not, it has brought to the forefront concerns about man's capacity to cause changes to the world's climate and the potential environmental and economic consequences, not least for the agricultural sectors. The hole in the ozone layer is also a potentially alarming phenomenon arising from human activity.

My second observation relates to the report "Our Common Future", prepared by the World Commission on Environment and Development (the "Brundtland Commission"). The Report pays considerable attention, inter alia, to reviving growth and changing its quality, to conserving and enhancing the resource base (land use, water management, alternatives to chemicals, etc.) and to taking into account both environment and economy in decision-making.

At its session in April this year, our Commission decided to review its programmes and activities aiming at contributing to sustainable development and to convene a meeting of experts to consider this review and formulate proposals for sectoral and interdisciplinary activities for inclusion in the ECE's programme of work. Preparations are well advanced for this meeting, which will take place in Geneva from 10 to 12 October 1988.

I expect the meeting to come forward with proposals for new initiatives by ECE, including activities of an inter-disciplinary nature. Let me add that the ECE possesses a great potential for inter-disciplinary work as our programme comprises practically all areas of economy in addition to agriculture and forestry like trade, industry, energy, transport, environment and others. It is evident that, given their concern with many aspects of environmental protection and sustainable development, the Committee on Agricultural Problems and the Timber Committee will be actively involved. Without

attempting to prejudge what specific proposals the meeting may make, there are, under consideration, several of special interest to the two Committees, such as the optimum use of chemicals in agriculture and alternative agricultural practices for a sustainable use of natural resources.

Considering the very comprehensive and effective activities of the ECE in the field of environment and the interest of this Conference as evidenced by the inclusion of the topic of the integration of environmental aspect in agricultural policies in the agenda, there would seem to be ample scope for close cooperation between our two organizations in the environmental field.

I am confident that the Conference will give ample consideration to all these questions in the course of the week and I should like to take this opportunity to wish it every success in its deliberations.

Thank you for your attention.



